






 

 
MICHIGAN BUREAU OF ELECTIONS 

RICHARD H.  AUSTIN  BUILDING ●  1ST FLOOR ●  430 W.  ALLEGAN ●  LANSING,  MICHIGAN 48918 
M ich igan.gov/E lec t ions  ●  (517)  335-3234 

June 27, 2023 
 
Via Email at nchoudhury@hamtramckcity.com 

 
Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 
10021 Conant Avenue 
Hamtramck, MI 48212     
 
Re: Phillip Kwik v Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 23-039 

Dear Nayeem Choudhury for City Council:  
 
The Department of State (Department) has received a formal complaint filed against you by 
Phillip Kwik alleging that you violated the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA or Act).  
Specifically, the complaint alleges that while serving on the May 23, 2023 Hamtramck City 
Council meeting you announced your campaign kickoff fundraiser to the audience.  A copy of 
the complaint is included with this notice. 
 
In Michigan, it is unlawful for a public body or an individual acting on its behalf to use or 
authorize the use of equipment, supplies, personnel, funds, or other public resources to make a 
contribution or expenditure.  MCL 169.257(1).  The words “contribution” and “expenditure” are 
terms of art that are generally defined to include a payment or transfer of anything of 
ascertainable monetary value made for the purpose of influencing or made in assistance of a 
candidate.  MCL 169.204(1), 169.206(1).  A violation of this provision is a misdemeanor.  
MCL 169.257(4). 
 
The purpose of this letter is to inform you of the Department’s examination of these matters and 
your right to respond to the allegations before the Department proceeds further.  It is important to 
understand that the Department is neither making this complaint nor accepting the allegations as 
true.  The investigation and resolution of this complaint is governed by section 15 of the Act and 
the corresponding administrative rules, R 169.51 et seq.  An explanation of the process is 
included in the Department’s campaign finance complaint guidebook. 
 
If you wish to file a written response to this complaint, you are required to do so within 15 
business days of the date of this letter.  Your response may include any written statement or 
additional documentary evidence you wish to submit.  Materials may be emailed to 
BOERegulatory@michigan.gov or mailed to the Department of State, Bureau of Elections, 
Richard H. Austin Building, 1st Floor, 430 West Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48918.  If 

https://www.michigan.gov/sos/-/media/Project/Websites/sos/CFR-Complaints/Complaint-Guidebook-Procedures.pdf
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you fail to submit a response, the Department will render a decision based on the evidence 
furnished by the complainant. 
 
A copy of your answer will be provided to Phillip Kwik, who will have an opportunity to submit 
a rebuttal statement to the Department.  After reviewing the statements and materials provided 
by the parties, the Department will determine whether “there may be reason to believe that a 
violation of [the MCFA] has occurred [.]”  MCL 169.215(10).   Note that the Department’s 
enforcement powers include the possibility of entering a conciliation agreement, conducting an 
administrative hearing, or referring this matter to the Attorney General for enforcement. 
 
If you have any questions concerning this matter, you may contact the Regulatory Section of the 
Bureau of Elections at BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov. 
  

Sincerely, 
 

Regulatory Section 
                                                                                                Bureau of Elections 
                                                                                                Michigan Department of State 
 
Attachments  
c:  Phillip Kwik via email at phillipkwik@gmail.com 
 

mailto:BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov










 

 
MICHIGAN BUREAU OF  ELECTIONS  

RICHARD H .  AUSTIN BUILDING ●  1ST FLOOR ●  430  W.  ALLEGAN ●  LANSING,  MICHIGAN 48918  
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August 18, 2023 
 
Via Email at nchoudhury@hamtramckcity.com 

 
Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 
10021 Conant Avenue 
Hamtramck, MI 48212     
 
Re: Phillip Kwik v Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 23-039 

Dear Nayeem Choudhury for City Council:  
 
The Department of State (Department) has finished investigating the campaign finance 
complaint filed against you by Phillip Kwik alleging that you violated the Michigan Campaign 
Finance Act (MCFA or Act).  Specifically, the complaint alleged that while serving on the 
May 23, 2023 Hamtramck City Council meeting you announced your campaign kickoff 
fundraiser to the audience.  This letter concerns the disposition of that complaint. 
 
You responded to the complaint on July 6, 2023.  In your response, you claimed that you were 
unaware that it is not allowed to announce your campaign fundraiser during a public meeting of 
the city council.  You indicated that it was simply a community event announcement.           
 
The Department has reviewed the evidence submitted in this matter, including the video of the 
meeting, and finds that sufficient evidence has been presented to support a finding of a potential 
violation of the MCFA.  We appreciate your response and even though you claim that you were 
unaware that announcing a simple gathering during the public meeting was not allowed and the 
gathering was not meant to be a fundraising event, the Department has determined that public 
resources were improperly used during the meeting.  Section 57 of the Act states:   

(1) A public body or a person acting for a public body shall not use or authorize the 
use of funds, personnel, office space, computer hardware or software, property, 
stationery, postage, vehicles, equipment, supplies, or other public resources to 
make a contribution or expenditure or provide volunteer personal services that 
are excluded from the definition of contribution under section 4(3)(a). The 
prohibition under this subsection includes, but is not limited to, using or 
authorizing the use of public resources to establish or administer a payroll 
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deduction plan to directly or indirectly collect or deliver a contribution to, or 
make an expenditure for, a committee. 

169.257 Sec. 57(1).   

The words “contribution” and “expenditure” are terms of art that are generally defined to 
include a payment or transfer of anything of ascertainable monetary value made for the 
purpose of influencing or made in assistance of a candidate.  MCL 169.204(1), 
169.206(1). 

Use of your position on the city council to announce what may be considered a campaign 
fundraiser constitutes the use of public resources by a public body.  While the resources 
used may be minimal, they are quantifiable and require reimbursement to the public 
body.   

Upon reaching this conclusion, the Department must attempt to informally resolve the complaint. 
MCL 169.215(10).  Based on the information you provided regarding your salary, we ask that 
you reimburse the City of Hamtramck in the amount of $1.11 and provide the Department 
evidence that this restitution was made.  Following this, the Department will issue a warning 
letter and close the complaint.    
 
This letter serves to notify you that the Department is beginning the informal resolution process.  
“If, after 90 business days, the secretary of state is unable to correct or prevent further violation 
by these informal methods, the secretary of state shall do either of the following:  
 

(a) Refer the matter to the attorney general for the enforcement of any criminal penalty 
provided by this act.  
(b) Commence a hearing as provided in subsection (11) for enforcement of any civil 
violation.” 
 

MCL 169.215(11).   
 
We look forward to hearing from you and resolving this complaint.    

 
Sincerely, 

 
Regulatory Section 

                                                                                                Bureau of Elections 
                                                                                                Michigan Department of State 
 
Attachments  
c:  Phillip Kwik via email at phillipkwik@gmail.com 
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November 29, 2023 

 
Via Email at nchoudhury@hamtramckcity.com 

 
 
Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 
10021 Conant Avenue 
Hamtramck, MI 48212     
 
Re: Phillip Kwik v Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 23-039 

Dear Mr. Choudhury:  
 
This letter is the final determination of the campaign finance complaint filed against you by 
Phillip Kwik which alleged certain violations of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA or 
Act), 1976 PA 388, MCL 169.201 et seq.  
 
In his complaint, Phillip Kwik alleged that you violated section 57 of the Act by announcing 
your campaign kickoff fundraiser to the audience during the May 23, 2023 meeting while you 
were serving as a member of the Hamtramck City Council.  
 
By letter dated August 18, 2023, the Department found that the evidence provided supported a 
reason to believe that a violation had occurred.  As previously indicated, upon reaching this 
conclusion, the Department is required to “endeavor to correct the violation or prevent a further 
violation by using informal methods [,]” if it finds that “there may be reason to believe that a 
violation … has occurred [.]”  MCL 169.215(10).  The objective of an informal resolution is “to 
correct the violation or prevent a further violation [.]”  Id.  
 
As part of the informal resolution, the Department asked you to reimburse the City of 
Hamtramck in the amount of $1.11 and provide the Department evidence that this restitution was 
made. 
 
On November 13, 2023, the Department received your notification that the reimbursement was 
made to the city.  Therefore, the Department determines that this formal warning is a sufficient 
resolution to the complaint.  The Department now considers this matter closed and will take no 
further action against you at this time.   
 



Nayeem Choudhury for City Council 
Page 2 
 
Thank you for your assistance in resolving this matter.    

 
Sincerely, 

 
Regulatory Section 

                                                                                                Bureau of Elections 
                                                                                                Michigan Department of State 
 
c:  Phillip Kwik via email at phillipkwik@gmail.com 
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